



SCOWCROFT CENTER FOR STRATEGY AND SECURITY

The Transatlantic Security Initiative, in the Scowcroft Center for Strategy and Security, shapes and influences the debate on the greatest security challenges facing the North Atlantic Alliance and its key partners.

The Scowcroft Center for Strategy and Security works to develop sustainable, nonpartisan strategies to address the most important security challenges facing the United States and its allies and partners.

© 2025 The Atlantic Council of the United States. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Atlantic Council, except in the case of brief quotations in news articles, critical articles, or reviews.

Please direct inquiries to:

Atlantic Council 1400 L Street NW, 11th Floor Washington, DC 20005 2025

Authors

Philippe Dickinson Ryan Arick Natasha Lander Finch

Table of contents

introduction	2
Background	2
Research question	
Key findings summary	
Methodology	4
Scenario-based workshops	4
Interviews with officials and experts	4
Part I: Russian intent	5
Russia's hybrid campaign of aggression	5
The psychological value of chemical and biological weapons	5
Challenging norms—and NATO	6
The escalatory dilemma	7
Part II: Deterrence	9
Deterrence can yield powerful results	9
The role of attribution in deterring CBRN use	9
Capability development and deployment	10
Exercises and training	10
Whole-of-society resilience	10
Wielding the information space	10
Be cautious of setting red lines	11
Diplomacy as a deterrent	11
Part III: Response	13
Ensure broad awareness of CBRN threats	13
Expand CBRN training to the total force	13
Better integrate military and civilian components	13
Leverage NATO for coordination and capabilities	13
Consider the information domain	15
Integrating deterrence and response	15
Key findings and recommendations	15
Conclusion	18
Appendix A. Acronym list	19
Appendix B. Workshop participants	19
Appendix C. Exercise methodology	20
Scenario-based workshop: Background story	20
Team A: chemical attack in 2030	20
Team B: biological attack in 2030	21
Appendix D. Interview participants	22
Appendix E. Biographies and acknowledgments	22
Principal investigator biography	22
Author biographies	23
Acknowledgments	24

Introduction

This report presents the findings and recommendations of the Atlantic Council project, Sustaining Allied Responses to the Threat of Russian Chemical, Biological, Radiological, and Nuclear Escalation. The objective of the project was to analyze the prospects for Russian use of chemical or biological weapons specifically in Europe over the next five to ten years; identify how the United States and its European allies and partners could deter and prevent Russian use of these weapons in Europe; and, should deterrence fail, assess response options.

Background

Russia has a well-established and clearly demonstrated strategic objective of undermining stability in the Euro-Atlantic region to reverse its loss of status following the end of the Cold War.¹ This strategy is characterized by hostility toward the United States and its allies and partners in Europe.²

Over recent years, Russia has demonstrated its intent to provoke instability in Europe by acting with malign aggression that is both overt and hybrid in nature. The starkest example of Russia's revanchist aggression is its full-scale illegal invasion of Ukraine, launched in 2022. Russia has also been conducting hybrid attacks—hostile activities using tools of statecraft below the threshold of conventional warfare—to shift the balance of power in its favor against the United States and its allies in Europe.³

A willingness to use chemical weapons has long been a feature of Russian aggression, both on the battlefield in Ukraine (specifically chloropicrin), and on the streets of Europe.⁴ As a result, Russia was described as "the most acute nuclear, biological, and chemical threat in the near-term" in the United States' 2023 Strategy to Counter Weapons of Mass Destruction.⁵ This parallels the same terminology used in the 2022 National Defense Strategy and 2022 National Security Strategy.⁶ Under-

mining the cohesion of the United States and its NATO allies is a core goal of Russia's political and military strategy. The Kremlin has shown that it is willing to use, or threaten to use, whatever capabilities it possesses, including CBRN weapons, to achieve this goal.

Research question

Our primary research question was, "What are the prospects for Russian use of chemical or biological weapons in Europe over the next five to ten years, and how can the United States and its European allies and partners counter such threats?" To address this question, the project team examined the following:

- In what scenarios might Russia use its arsenal of chemical and biological capabilities to achieve its geopolitical goals in the five-to-ten-year time frame? What developments in European security more broadly over the same period would increase or decrease the risk of Russian use of chemical or biological weapons?
- How might the United States and its European allies and partners enhance their overall defense and deterrence posture to reduce the risk of potential chemical or biological weapons use in the next five to ten years?
- How can the United States work with European allies and partners to coordinate and standardize comprehensive responses to the potential deployment of Russian chemical and biological weapons?
- To what extent could Russian use of chemical or biological weapons in Europe escalate further to the use of nuclear weapons, and how can the United States work with its European allies and partners to reduce the risk of escalation?

^{1.} Eugene Rumer and Richard Sokolsky, "Etched in Stone: Russian Strategic Culture and the Future of Transatlantic Security," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, September 2020, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2020/09/etched-in-stone-russian-strategic-culture-and-the-future-of-transatlantic-security?lang=en.

^{2.} Robert Person and Michael McFaul, "What Putin Fears Most," Journal of Democracy 33, no. 2 (2022): 18–27, https://www.journalofdemocracy.org/articles/what-putin-fears-most/.

Russia conceptualizes hybrid warfare—particularly in how it is deployed to subvert and undermine politics and security—much differently than the United States and Europe. See Seth G. Jones, "Russia's Shadow War with the West," Center for Strategic and International Studies, March 18, 2025, https://www.csis.org/analysis/russias-shadow-war-against-west.

^{4.} Russia has carried out attacks in London (2006), Sofia (2015), and Salisbury, United Kingdom (2018). See Mina Rozei, "US Accuses Russia of Chemical Weapons Use in Ukraine," Arms Control Association, June 2024, https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2024-06/news/us-accuses-russia-chemical-weapons-use-ukraine; and "Novichok Nerve Agent Use in Salisbury: UK Government Response, March to April 2018," UK Foreign & Commonwealth Office, Prime Minister's Office, 10 Downing Street, Home Office, and Ministry of Defence, March 14, 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/news/novichok-nerve-agent-use-in-salisbury-uk-government-response.

^{5. &}quot;2023 Strategy for Countering Weapons of Mass Destruction," US Department of Defense, Press Release, September 2023, https://www.defense.gov/News/Releases/Releases/Releases/News/Releases/R

See 2022 National Defense Strategy of the United States of America, US Department of Defense, 2022, https://media.defense.gov/2022/Oct/27/2003103845/-1/-1/-1/1/2022-NATIONAL-DEFENSE-STRATEGY-NPR-MDR.pdf; and US National Security Strategy, White House, October 2022, https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Biden-Harris-Administrations-National-Security-Strategy-10.2022.pdf.



Ground crew in protective gear decontaminate an aircraft as part of NATO's efforts to prepare first responders to address CBRN incidents, September 15, 2013. NATO

Key findings summary

Our project illuminated several findings for US and European decision-makers:

- Russia will likely continue using chemical weapons in Europe in a range of scenarios over the next five to ten years, particularly if doing so undermines Alliance unity and disrupts Ukraine's integration into the West. Based on its recent behavior, however, Russia appears less likely to use biological weapons. Furthermore, while Russia has threatened nuclear use, a large-scale nuclear attack appears unlikely.
- To credibly deter Russia from nuclear escalation, the United States and its European allies and partners must ensure that Russia understands that using—or threatening to use—chemical and biological weapons would both fail to achieve its intended outcome and incur intolerable costs.
- Since the end of the Cold War, CBRN defense has been deprioritized among NATO allies, including the United States. Amid calls for increased defense spending,

- CBRN defense capability development is an area primed for greater investment.
- The United States should leverage NATO to facilitate greater coordination between civilian and military entities to enhance whole-of-society resilience to CBRN threats.
- Information and intelligence sharing is critical to achieving a common threat perception among NATO allies and partners. Expanded information sharing and effective strategic communications can deter Russian use of chemical or biological weapons and ensure a coordinated response if deterrence fails.
- The United States and its European allies and partners should take steps to raise the public IQ related to CBRN threats, particularly as it pertains to chemical and biological threats.
- The governance of emerging and applied technologies is difficult within the bounds of existing treaty regimes. Sanctions and export controls can complement treaty organizations to monitor and contain potential CBRN threats from such technologies, including dual-use systems and components.

Methodology

The project team adopted two principal research methods for this project: a series of scenario-based workshops and interviews with subject matter experts and officials from the United States, Europe, and NATO. The team also conducted secondary research to develop the workshop methodology and to corroborate information and insights gleaned during the workshops and interviews.

Scenario-based workshops

In January 2025, the project team convened experts and officials to take part in two scenario-based exercises. The first group, which was convened virtually, consisted of subject matter experts and researchers from the United States and Europe, while the second group (convened in hybrid format) consisted of officials from the United States, NATO, and European governments. See Appendixes B and C for more information about the participants and the methodology, respectively.

The project team created a plausible exploratory scenario in which tensions between Russia and the United States and its European allies and partners (primarily Ukraine) had grown over a five-year time frame. The scenario provided a framework for participants to consider the key questions of Russian strategic intent, and implications for allied deterrence and responses to Russian aggression.

The workshops presented two scenarios in the year 2030: one in which Russia carried out a chemical attack against NATO allies based in Ukraine, and one in which Russia carried out targeted biological attacks against allied officials in Europe. These attacks concerned low-level use of chemical and biological agents, rather than major battlefield use of such weapons. Thus, the focus was on how Russia might use these capabilities to test escalatory dynamics, rather than to achieve major military objectives. The workshops divided participants into two groups; each group focused on either the chemical or biological scenario.

The workshops primarily asked participants to analyze why Russia might consider the use of chemical or biological weapons strategically advantageous in these scenarios; propose how to deter Russia from further use of chemical and biological weapons; and recommend how the United States and Europe should respond to Russia's use of such weapons. The two groups reconvened after the exercise to share key findings from their discussions.

Interviews with officials and experts

Informed by the insights from the workshops, the project team conducted interviews with US, European, and NATO officials and experts. The interviews provided direct perspectives on the potential for Russian CBRN escalation over the next five to ten years and how the alliance can deter and respond to possible Russian chemical and biological escalation. The interview stage also enabled the project team to explore the



A Czech CBRN defense instructor adjusts her personal protective equipment as part of a training exercise held by NATO's Joint CBRN Defence Centre of Excellence, October 2, 2024. NATO

additional question of nuclear escalation following Russia's potential use of chemical or biological weapons.

The following report presents our analysis of Russia's intent to use CBRN weapons, possible deterrence considerations to be employed by the United States and its European allies and partners, and response options for the United States and Europe to respond should deterrence fail. The report concludes with our overall findings and recommendations.

Part I: Russian intent

Vladimir Putin described the breakup of the Soviet Union as "the greatest geopolitical catastrophe of the 20th century." NATO's 2022 Strategic Concept makes clear that Putin's ambition to reverse the outcome of the Cold War is at the heart of Russia's efforts to reestablish spheres of influence and direct control over its former Soviet empire, including NATO allies.8 Russia's hostile actions seek to undermine the rules-based international order that defines the worldview of NATO and its members.9

At the 2007 Munich Security Conference, Putin signaled clearly to the world that he believed undermining the international rules-based system was necessary to carry out his revanchist ambitions. Russia has since demonstrated repeatedly that it is willing to use violent and aggressive means to further this ambition. This includes conventional military aggression, as demonstrated by Russia's 2008 invasion of Georgia, 2014 annexation of Crimea, and 2022 full-scale invasion of Ukraine. 11

Russia's hybrid campaign of aggression

In addition to conventional military aggression, Russia's campaign has included a well-documented and long-running "shadow war" of hybrid tactics against NATO and its allies. 12 This

hybrid campaign has included critical infrastructure attacks, acts of violence, weaponized migration, election interference, and information campaigns, which have intensified in volume since Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine in 2022.¹³

The threat and the use of Russia's CBRN capabilities has been a feature of Moscow's hybrid campaign. In spite of the long-standing norms against using CBRN weapons, enshrined in international treaties and conventions, Russia has demonstrated that it is able and willing to deploy these weapons, ¹⁴ including in NATO territory. ¹⁵ Russia has also demonstrated a willingness to use chemical weapons during its illegal invasion of Ukraine and long supported the former Assad regime in Syria that used chemical weapons against civilians. ¹⁶

The psychological value of chemical and biological weapons

For Russia, chemical and biological weapons have many potential uses and bring many advantages. At their most basic level, chemical and biological weapons, either in a battlefield scenario or a civilian context, are agents of terror. Several interviewees noted the Russian state employs these weapons—or threatens to—to instill fear in European populations and

- 14. For more information, see "Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (NPT)," United Nations, https://disarmament.unoda.org/en/our-work/weapons-mass-des-truction/nuclear-weapons/treaty-non-proliferation-nuclear-weapons; "Convention on the Prohibition of the Development, Production, and Stockpiling of Bacteriological (Biological) and Toxin Weapons and Their Destruction," United Nations, https://treaties.unoda.org/t/bwc;; "Chemical Weapons Convention," Organization for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons, https://twww.opcw.org/chemical-weapons-convention; and Mathias Hammer, "The Collapse of Global Arms Control," Time, November 13, 2023, https://time.com/6334258/putin-nuclear-arms-control/.
- 15. Russia carried out CBRN-based attempted assassinations in the UK in 2006 and 2018 and is suspected of the 2015 assassination attempt against a Bulgarian arms dealer, Emilian Gebrev. See "Russia Behind Litvinenko Murder, Rules European Rights Court," BBC, September 21, 2021, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-58637572; "Statement by the North Atlantic Council on the Use of a Nerve Agent in Salisbury," NATO, March 14, 2018, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/news_152787.htm; and Krassen Nikolov, "Bulgaria Seeks Extradition of Three Spies from Russia in Novichok Case," Euractiv, November 21, 2023, https://www.euractiv.com/section/politics/news/bulgaria-seeks-extradition-of-three-spies-from-russia-in-novichok-case/.
- 16. See "OPCW Finds Toxic Chemical Use in Ukraine," Arms Control Association, December 2024, https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2024-12/news-briefs/opcw-finds-toxic-chemical-use-ukraine; and Kenneth D. Ward, "Syria, Russia, and the Global Chemical Weapons Crisis," Arms Control Association, September 2021, https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2021-09/features/syria-russia-and-global-chemical-weapons-crisis.

^{7.} Andrew Osborn and Andrey Ostroukh, "Putin Rues Soviet Collapse as Demise of Humanity," Reuters, December 12, 2021, https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/putin-rues-soviet-collapse-demise-historical-russia-2021-12-12/.

^{8.} NATO's 2022 Strategic Concept specifically mentions that Russia will seek to exert power and control "through coercion, subversion, aggression and annexation" via conventional, cyber, and hybrid means. See "NATO 2022 Strategic Concept," NATO, June 2022, https://www.nato.int/strategic-concept/.

^{9. &}quot;NATO 2022 Strategic Concept," NATO, June 2022, https://www.nato.int/strategic-concept/.

^{10.} Thom Shanker and Mark Landler, "Putin Says US Is Undermining Global Stability," New York Times, February 11, 2007, https://www.nytimes.com/2007/02/11/world/europe/11munich.html.

Ketevan Chincharadze and Larry P. Goodson, "The Enduring Impact of the 2008 Russia-Georgian War," War Room, US Army War College, December 19, 2024, https://warroom.armywarcollege.edu/articles/enduring-impact/.

^{12. &}quot;Hearing–Russia's Shadow War on NATO," US Commission on Security and Cooperation in Europe, September 24, 2024, https://www.csce.gov/press-releases/hea-ring-russias-shadow-war-on-nato/.

^{13.} For more, see "Spotlight on the Shadow War: Inside Russia's Attacks on NATO Territory," Commission on Security and Cooperation in Europe, US Helsinki Commission, December 12, 2024, https://www.csce.gov/publications/spotlight-on-the-shadow-war-inside-russias-attacks-on-nato-territory/; and Seth G. Jones, "Russia's Shadow War with the West," Center for Strategic and International Studies, March 18, 2025, https://www.csis.org/analysis/russias-shadow-war-against-west.



A Dutch Air Force F-35 fighter jet conducts air operations during exercise Steadfast Noon. Thirteen NATO allies participated in NATO's annual nuclear deterrence exercise in 2024. October 21, 2024. NATO

among Russian dissidents in exile.¹⁷ Russian willingness to use chemical weapons in this manner also sends a clear signal to the domestic Russian population about the Putin regime's tolerance for any potential threats and challenges. A clear demonstration of this tactic was the 2020 Novichok poisoning of Russian opposition leader Alexei Navalny, which took place in Russia.¹⁸ While untested, it can be safely assumed that Putin would resort to extreme measures, including using CBRN weapons as necessary, to ensure the survival of his regime.

Some participants described public awareness in much of Europe about how chemical or biological weapons are used and the effects they can have as generally low. Those participants suggested that Russian use of CBRN weapons would be a means of causing widespread panic and manipulating emotions and public actions. The confusion they could potentially sow could create fertile ground for disinformation campaigns designed to undermine public trust in their governments.¹⁹ Such an attack could also expose frailties in broader social resilience in the target community.

Challenging norms—and NATO

Many participants in both the workshops and interviews reflected that a significant incentive for the use of chemical or biological weapons is to further degrade the broadly accepted international norms and standards in place since World War II. Russia's documented use of chemical weapons sends a signal that it does not consider itself to be constrained by rules, norms, or obligations like other countries. It is an assertion that, as a supposed great power with an extensive and sophisticated CBRN toolbox (a legacy maintained from the Soviet era), and a permanent seat on the United Nations (UN) Security Council, Russia can act with relative impunity to flout and degrade the rules-based system that it opposes. Allies should continue to acknowledge and challenge this behavior, but more public reporting on Russian chemical and biological weapons and how they compare to restrictions outlined in the Chemical Weapons Convention (CWC) and Biological Weapons Convention (BWC) could improve awareness of Russia's possible intent.

^{17.} One subject matter expert interviewed for the project noted that "some of [Russia's strategic motivation] is about showing reach into Western Europe and that they can get to us. Some of it is a fear element for dissident populations, and to show that we have a range of stuff that you might not know about and we're not afraid to use it."

^{18. &}quot;Putin's Poisons: 2020 Attack on Aleksey Navalny," US Embassy in Georgia, April 18, 2022, https://ge.usembassy.gov/putins-poisons-2020-attack-on-aleksey-navalny/.

Michael J. Kelley, "Understanding Russian Disinformation and How the Joint Force Can Address It," US Army War College, May 29, 2024, https://publications.armywar-college.edu/News/Display/Article/3789933/understanding-russian-disinformation-and-how-the-joint-force-can-address-it.

In more general terms, the actions of the Russian regime demonstrate that Russia places lower value on human life than the United States and its allies, whether that is of Ukrainian civilians, unwitting bystanders to Russian crimes, or its own military personnel.²⁰ This cultural disregard for the suffering of even its own people affords Russia the space to conduct more reckless attacks and bear the subsequent consequences that the United States and its European allies and partners would not.

By their nature, different chemical and biological weapons have a broad range of properties, methods of delivery, rates of contagion, and lethality.²¹ While the CWC includes verification measures, the BWC does not. Participants noted that Russia could calibrate the nature, scale, and target of any chemical or biological weapon attack to create maximum uncertainty, exploit potential differences in threat perceptions and willingness to stand up against Russian aggression, and degrade international conventions. In many senses, the greater utility of chemical or biological weapons is not their lethality, but their impact on the adversary's thinking. As one participant put it, "the intention isn't to kill, but to complicate."

This coercive element confers chemical and biological weapons and the range of effects they can create, with significant strategic value for Russia. Through the use (or threatened use) of different chemical or biological weapons in a range of scenarios, Russia might hope to influence allied decision-making and actions, such as potential Ukrainian integration into Western-oriented institutions. Participants observed that Russian use of chemical and biological weapons in these scenarios could be a means of Russia signaling that it considers the West has crossed its political red lines.

In a hypothetical battlefield context, the threat of chemical weapons use could limit the efficiency of allied military operations by imposing extra precautionary measures and influencing battlefield planning. In Iraq, the fear that Saddam Hussein could use chemical weapons degraded efficiency on the battlefield.²² After decades of underinvestment and neglect in the

principles of operating in CBRN contaminated environments, Russia may be tempted to expose shortfalls in allied CBRN readiness on the battlefield.

For Russia, chemical and biological weapons serve an additional military function of making up for potential conventional military shortcomings. Where the Russians might be outmatched by NATO in conventional terms, unencumbered by moral or legal constraints, they might consider it a legitimate part of their doctrine to use asymmetric capabilities that can tilt the scales in their favor.²³ Participants in our exercises speculated that the likelihood of Russia resorting to chemical or biological weapons would increase should Russia face imminent conventional defeat on the battlefield, either against Ukraine or NATO. This assumption is supported by the 2024 change in Russian nuclear doctrine, which lowered the threshold for first use of nuclear weapons to a new, lower standard.²⁴

The escalatory dilemma

Russia's recent changes to its military doctrine, and the potential use of chemical and biological weapons either in civilian or battlefield contexts, must be considered within the framework of political and military escalation. ²⁵ Several interviewees noted that, because these are weapons that NATO allies do not and would not use, Russia's previous use of chemical weapons and potential willingness to turn to biological weapons give the Kremlin an extra rung on the escalatory ladder.

Unlike nuclear escalation—which is well-studied, more clearly defined, and more widely considered taboo in the case of first-use of nuclear weapons—the escalatory dynamics of chemical and biological weapons use are more ambiguous and less certain. The scale and severity of chemical or biological weapon use could be calibrated to avoid crossing an obvious threshold that demands a military response, while at the same time clearly crossing a normative line that NATO allies would not cross, all the while posing a difficult conundrum about the appropriate and proportionate response.

^{20.} For more, see Olha Polishchuk and Nichita Gurcov, "Bombing into Submission: Russian Targeting of Civilians and Infrastructure in Ukraine," Armed Conflict Location and Event Data, February 21, 2025, https://acleddata.com/2025/02/21/bombing-into-submission-russian-targeting-of-civilians-and-infrastructure-in-ukraine/; "Litvinen-ko: Images of Radiation Trail Revealed," SkyNews, January 27, 2015, https://news.sky.com/story/litvinenko-images-of-radiation-trail-revealed-10373703; and Alexey Kovaley, "Putin Is Throwing Human Waves at Ukraine but Can't Do It Forever," Foreign Policy, November 25, 2024, https://foreignpolicy.com/2024/11/25/russia-ukraine-war-casualties-deaths-losses-soldiers-killed-meatgrinder-attacks/.

^{21.} Gert G. Harigel, "Chemical and Biological Weapons: Use in Warfare, Impact on Society and Environment," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, January 18, 2001, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2001/01/introduction-to-chemical-and-biological-weapons.

^{22.} Major General Robert D. Orton and Major Robert C. Neumann, "The Impact of Weapons of Mass Destruction on Battlefield Operations," Army University Press: *Military Review*, December 1993, https://www.armyupress.army.mil/Journals/Military-Review/English-Edition-Archives/January-February-2022/Orton-Impact-WMD-1993/.

^{23.} From the Russian doctrine: "The Russian Federation reserves the right to use nuclear weapons in response to the use of nuclear and other types of weapons of mass destruction against it and (or) its allies, as well as in response to large-scale aggression utilizing conventional weapons in situations critical to the national security of the Russian Federation." (italics added for emphasis). See George Allison, "NATO Outmatches Russia in 'Every Domain Except Nuclear,' " UK Defense Journal, December 6, 2024, https://ukdefencejournal.org.uk/nato-outmatches-russia-in-every-domain-except-nuclear/.

^{24.} Escalation can be defined as "an increase in the intensity or scope of conflict that crosses threshold(s) considered significant by one or more of the participants. For more, see "Russia's Military Doctrine," Arms Control Association, May 2005, https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2000-05/russias-military-doctrine.

^{25.} Forrest E. Morgan et al., "The Nature of Escalation," in *Dangerous Thresholds: Managing Escalation in the 21st Century* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2008), 7–46, https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7249/mg614af.9.

Additionally, the dual-use nature of many of these chemical or biological agents (which may have legitimate and peaceful origins and uses) makes attribution challenging and presents sufficient deniability. This makes it difficult to establish clear lines of acceptable use and potentially hampers efforts to cohere a forceful and united response. At the same time, it allows Russia to simultaneously send a message of intent to allies and sow further confusion and distrust, while mostly avoiding (or limiting) punishment. In short, per one workshop participant, "it helps Russia to establish escalation dominance without committing to war."

However, in many discussions throughout the project, there was considerable uncertainty over whether and how escalation to chemical and biological weapons use would increase the subsequent prospects of nuclear escalation. While many participants recognized that Russia's willingness to disregard norms when it comes to chemical weapons in particular could logically lead to nuclear escalation and that Russia had invoked rhetoric around nuclear weapons use in recent years, participants agreed that taboos around nuclear weapons use exert more of a constraining force on Russia. Several participants noted the reported influence that China and India were able to wield against Russia in October 2022 to help de-escalate Moscow's nuclear rhetoric at the time.²⁶

Participants noted that where chemical or biological weapons can be deployed in such a way as to sow confusion and inject escalatory ambiguity, the line that nuclear weapons use would cross is much more definitive. No participants envisaged these scenarios escalating to the use of nuclear weapons unless Putin felt it was the last and only option for his personal survival.

Jim Sciutto, "Exclusive: US Prepared 'Rigorously' for Potential Russian Nuclear Strike in Ukraine in Late 2022, Officials Say," CNN, March 9, 2024, https://www.cnn.com/2024/03/09/politics/us-prepared-rigorously-potential-russian-nuclear-strike-ukraine/index.html.

Part II: Deterrence

As outlined above, Russia has and could continue to use chemical or biological weapons depending on the state of its conventional capabilities. The United States and its European allies and partners play a crucial role in deterring Russia from using any CBRN weapon. It is therefore critical to consider the scenarios in which Russia might turn to such weapons. Russia might even assume that previous responses to chemical attacks give them scope to escalate to larger-scale strategic weapons.²⁷

For deterrence to be effective, like-minded nations must make clear that they are prepared to impose intolerable costs (economic, geopolitical, or military) on Russia should it use chemical or biological weapons, while also maintaining some ambiguity as to the exact nature of a response. Demonstrations of intelligence sharing among allies to present a unified threat assessment may clarify how the United States observes the Russian threat in the CBRN domain. Given how critical it is for civilian institutions to be integrated in the response to a potential CBRN attack, particularly related to chemical and biological threats, a whole-of-government approach to deterrence is essential for how the United States and its European allies and partners should position themselves vis-à-vis Russia. Outsidethe-box thinking around potential partners and nontraditional allies may also aid in strengthening deterrence. The following takeaways emerged from our analysis, including discussions with key stakeholders in the United States and Europe.

Deterrence can yield powerful results

Deterrence by punishment would be harder to inflict if Russia were to use a chemical or biological weapon, given that there would not be a proportional response. However, the United States and Europe still have options for precise, measured, and consequential actions. Workshop participants agreed that specific actions or escalation using CBRN threats from Russia would have severe consequences warranting a response, including stringent economic sanctions, diplomatic pressure campaigns, and, in some instances, retaliatory military strikes. With the nuclear deterrent as the foundation for any response from the United States (alongside that of the United Kingdom

and France), any threat of retaliation against Russia will be stronger.²⁹ In addition, the United States and European countries could implement measures such as export controls, sanctions, international condemnation, or stationing NATO troops closer to Russia's borders to deter Russian CBRN use.

Participants reflected that the most likely scenario in which Russia would turn to CBRN threats would include hybrid attacks on the United States and Europe. Deterrence of such threats remains a "riddle" as one interviewee put it, where more degrees of ambiguity are present that do not apply to conventional (or nuclear) escalation. When approaching the more tactical use of chemical or biological weapons, there is more opaqueness given the dual-purpose nature of substances, technologies, and delivery systems. Workshop participants did not come to consensus on how the United States and its European allies should view (or respond to) such threats within the hybrid domain or on the tactical applications of chemical or biological weapons.

The role of attribution in deterring CBRN use

During the workshops and interviews, participants continuously reiterated that attribution is critical to deterring Russian chemical and biological threats and holding Russia accountable for past use of chemical weapons. Intelligence and information sharing play an important role in attribution. One interviewee remarked that Russia may think twice about staging chemical and biological attacks if there is more publicly available information about their chemical and biological capabilities, facilities, and deployment means.

However, timely technical collection and forensic analysis capabilities are lacking among NATO allies, leading to questions about the accuracy and reliability of attributing attacks. Several existing capabilities—including detection, intelligence, and surveillance systems—could prevent escalation with chemical and biological weapons, but these systems are not well resourced across the Alliance. Many NATO member states lack adequate expertise in sample collection, robust laboratory infrastructure, and the requisite instruments to conduct analysis, all of which impede attribution.

^{27.} Natasha Hall and Doreen Horschig, "Reviving Chemical Weapons Accountability in a Multipolar World," Center for Strategic and International Studies, November 21, 2024, https://www.csis.org/analysis/reviving-chemical-weapons-accountability-multipolar-world.

^{28.} There is wide body of literature on deterrence, including varying definitions of types of deterrence. We use Michael J. Mazarr's definitions of deterrence by punishment. Deterrence by punishment involves the threat of "severe penalties, such as nuclear escalation or severe economic sanctions if an attack occurs." For more, see Michael J. Mazarr, "Understanding Deterrence," RAND Corporation, 2018, https://www.rand.org/pubs/perspectives/PE295.html.

^{29.} Similarly, the concept of extended deterrence includes the discouragement of the use of nuclear weapons against an ally or partner nation of the United States from an adversary in which the threat of retaliation from the United States extends protection. The United States and the United Kingdom provide extended deterrence for NATO allies. It is important to note that France, another NATO ally and nuclear-capable state, does not contribute to NATO's nuclear defense. See Mazarr, "Understanding Deterrence."

Some participants we spoke to, particularly on NATO's eastern flank, reflected on a need to strengthen intelligence, monitoring, and detection capabilities to improve their overall deterrence and response posture. Investment in capabilities to investigate and attribute attacks could prevent Russian escalation. For attribution to be effective, the United States and European allies and partners must also possess a shared understanding of indicators and warning signals ahead of an attack.

Preparedness and resilience are essential

Participants described the need for the United States and its European allies and partners to limit the consequences of Russian chemical and biological attacks. The notion of "deterrence by resilience" or "deterrence by preparedness" (a subcategory of the broader notion of "deterrence by denial") is one paradigm for thinking of how the United States could successfully prevent Russia from turning to chemical or biological weapons. The following considerations came up most frequently as areas for investment.

Capability development and deployment

Allied military representatives broadly agreed that CBRN-related equipment—either related to attribution (including detection and surveillance systems) or response (such as decontamination or personal protective equipment [PPE])—is often overlooked in favor of high-caliber defense systems. Counter-CBRN capabilities are frequently considered too niche for broader collective defense.

Investment in CBRN defense capabilities, discussed further in the response section of this report, provides a deterrent signal in addition to preparing allies to fight through a chemical or biological attack. However, nearly everyone we interviewed recognized that these capabilities are often siloed to specialist forces and not broadly integrated within general purpose forces. Ministries of defense across the Alliance should set baselines for CBRN defense-capability targets, including PPE, gas masks, and treatment, across the total force and resource these priorities accordingly.

Exercises and training

Regular and comprehensive exercises that incorporate a variety of US and European military forces would underpin an ef-

fective deterrence strategy toward Russia. Some participants described the importance of joint training among special operations forces (SOF) that might be equipped to respond to chemical and biological weapons use. Components of these exercises should be incorporated into broader training, which can enable preparedness in times of crisis. Participants pointed to several preexisting multinational exercises as examples to demonstrate readiness to deter CBRN escalation.³⁰

Other training—including tabletop exercises and war-games—can be deployed to help decision-makers design more effective standards to aid and inform how the United States and its European allies and partners can deter potential Russian use of CBRN threats. Tabletop exercises and war-games leveraged by the Pentagon and DTRA with their European counterparts can be used to strengthen strategic and operational thinking about how to deter Russian escalation by providing opportunities to try new approaches under the guidance of expert facilitators.

Whole-of-society resilience

To be effective, deterrence by resilience must incorporate all facets of society to respond to instances of crisis or threats.31 To deter potential CBRN threats through preparedness, European allies and partners must warn the public, without fearmongering, of the risk of escalation. Several participants noted the importance of preparing populations to withstand and defy threats from Russia, which includes activating and sustaining civilian institutions such as hospitals that would treat those affected by a chemical or biological attack. As part of a whole-of-society approach, greater awareness of chemical and biological threats is needed; public health personnel, first responders, law enforcement, teachers, and others ought to understand the effects of chemical and biological agents and how to respond appropriately. Similar to the military, civilian agencies should procure and maintain CBRN defense capabilities to protect and treat civilian populations in the event of a chemical or biological attack.

One phrase that is often repeated in expert circles is "raising the IQ" on nuclear threats. This concept applies to chemical and biological threats as well so that more individuals are cognizant of their scale and severity. Mental and emotional preparedness would enable the public to resist Russian efforts

^{30.} Such exercises include the 2022 Toxic Valley training led by Slovakia and the 2024 Coronat Mask training led by the Czech Republic. See "International Exercise of Chemical Units CORONAT MASK 2024 Will Take Place Again After Years," CZ Defence, May 18, 2024, https://www.czdefence.com/article/international-exercise-of-chemical-units-coronat-mask-2024-will-take-place-again-after-years.

^{31.} A whole-of-society approach includes integrating the "full range of military and civilian capabilities" with cooperation from government, civil society, and private sector stakeholders. For more, see "Resilience, Civil Preparedness, and Article 3," NATO, November 13, 2024, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohg/topics_132722.htm.



Russian President Vladimir Putin conducts an exercise of Russia's strategic nuclear deterrence forces in Moscow via video conference. Putin approved Russia's new nuclear doctrine in 2024. October 24, 2024. Mikhail Metzel/Reuters

and contain the potential consequences associated with a Russian attack. Demonstrating societal resilience, in which wider social and civil functions can withstand CBRN escalation, could deter Russia from employing CBRN weapons.

Wielding the information space

Russia consistently utilizes the information space to instill fear, distrust, and confusion.³² In addition to responding to these types of stories with clear, fact-based information that demonstrates why Russian claims are false, the United States and its European allies and partners can also pre-bunk and dispel any false or misleading claims that Russia produces about CBRN-related threats. Participants pointed to the importance of sharing proactive messages about resistance to such narratives through a variety of means—including traditional media, official government communications, and social media—to dissuade Russian perpetrators from deploying attacks. Eye-

catching social media posts and multimedia tools can extend reach to nontraditional communities to help dispel Russian claims. As one participant noted, winning the information war must be combined with the requisite military power and civilian capability to deter Russia.

Be cautious of setting red lines

While US and European officials must be clear about the consequences of escalation, interviewees resisted establishing so-called red lines that are overly specific. Many interviewees pointed to the infamous case of the Obama administration's supposed red lines regarding Syria's use of chemical weapons during its civil war in the 2010s. Such thresholds, which may be politically sensitive to apply, would leave the international community in a difficult position with respect to enforcement or punishment, which could undermine the credibility of deterrence.

^{32.} The Kremlin has a long history of accusing the United States and European nations of biological weapons development and nuclear expansion as cover for its own activities. See Sarah Jacobs Gamberini and Justin Anderson, "Russian and Other (Dis)Information Undermining WMD Arms Control: Considerations for NATO," NATO Committee on Proliferation, Speech presented to the NATO Committee on Proliferation, July 12, 2022, https://wmdcenter.ndu.edu/Publications/Article/3768119/presentation-russian-and-other-disinformation-undermining-wmd-arms-control-cons/.



A CBRN specialist trains in the Czech Republic as part of the CORONAT MASK 2024 training. More than 800 CBRN specialists from 13 NATO nations participated to exercise collective CBRN capabilities. June 24, 2024. US European Command

Participants called instead for political rhetoric to be vague externally, where Russia and its allies would have difficulty determining the threshold for response, while being precise internally about the consequences of Russia's actions. This distinction would provide space for the United States and its European allies and partners to determine the requisite response to CBRN threats stemming from Russia.

Diplomacy as a deterrent

Russia finds itself somewhat isolated in the current geopolitical environment. However, the Kremlin frequently looks to several nations—including China, Iran, and North Korea—to bolster Russia's defense. These relationships could provide options to engage non-European nations to deter Russia from CBRN escalation. For example, China reportedly engaged Russia to discourage the use of nuclear weapons in Ukraine and the

deployment of nuclear weapons in space.³³ Given the degree to which Russia depends on China to prop up its wartime economy, there may be an opportunity to leverage China to dissuade Russia from turning to CBRN escalation, particularly if China upholds international regimes regarding CBRN use.³⁴ India may also be able to influence Russia given its role in supporting Russia's economic stability amid Western sanctions and may have sway in discouraging CBRN escalation.

^{33.} Demetri Sevastopulo, "Antony Blinken: 'China has Been Trying to Have It Both Ways," *Financial Times*, January 3, 2025, https://www.ft.com/content/25798b9f-1ad9-4f7f-ab9e-d6f36bbe3edf

^{34.} Patricia M. Kim et al., "China and Russia's Strategic Relationship amid a Shifting Geopolitical Landscape," Brookings Institution, March 6, 2025, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/china-and-russias-strategic-relationship-amid-a-shifting-geopolitical-landscape/.

Part III: Response

The results of our workshops, interviews, and secondary research illuminated opportunities to enhance US and European responses to a CBRN attack should deterrence fail. Given its role in coordinating allied planning, NATO will be a critical actor in any response effort. Our discussions with NATO and European officials revealed consistent, close cooperation among military elements at NATO, while understanding that support required from civilian entities is a more nascent effort. However, the mandate for responding to a CBRN incident typically falls within the civilian sectors of many European governments, so political-military coordination is essential to ensuring all facets of government are aware of their roles in the event of a CBRN attack. Enhancing cooperation to promote coordinated responses includes the following best practices.

Ensure broad awareness of CBRN threats

Allies we interviewed broadly agreed that awareness of Russian CBRN threats cannot only reside within the specialist communities at NATO or in national militaries. At the political level, there is general agreement at NATO and within European capitals that Russia's CBRN threats are an immediate concern. However, it is less clear how much allies are willing to invest to counter these threats, both now and in the five-to-ten-year time frame. Those geographically closest to Russia were most acutely aware of the threats and adamant about engaging with NATO allies via training, exercises, and exchanges to ensure active cooperation.

Variations in threat perception also appeared to be generational, according to our discussions. For example, officers who have served since the end of the Cold War described a lack of investment in CBRN defense in the absence of acute Soviet chemical, biological, and nuclear threats. The perception of such threats was lower in the post-Cold War era, which led the United States and Europe to deprioritize investment in preparedness. Given Russia's continued flouting of international norms against the use of chemical weapons, and the primacy of nuclear warfare in its military doctrine, US, NATO, and European leaders need to uphold what they have recognized in recent strategic guidance as a critical threat emanating from Russia and invest in their forces accordingly.

Expand CBRN training to the total force

Training is an area that appears ripe for further investment. European military leaders we interviewed agreed that expertise cannot reside in the CBRN specialist communities alone. General purpose forces must also be trained on CBRN threats and equipped to fight through contaminated environments. To ensure broader awareness of CBRN threats, NATO and national military exercises should include elements of chemical, biological, or limited nuclear use scenarios. Military and civilian

leaders we interviewed recognized the drawbacks of having personnel exercise in restrictive protective gear, given how it can slow maneuver, but it also puts troops at a disadvantage if they need to operate wearing the gear in a real-time scenario without much experience. NATO's CBRN-focused exercises, described in the previous section, are an important step toward ensuring interoperability among NATO forces, but these lessons can be expanded beyond CBRN defense units to include NATO SOF and other elements of NATO's deployable forces.

Better integrate military and civilian components

Apart from military preparedness, it is critical for national military and NATO elements to understand the capacity of civilian institutions, as first responders will have the authority for coordinating a response to incidents that occur outside of military operations. During the workshops and the interviews, participants expressed the need for greater integration of civilian and military personnel on topics such as decontamination and training, which necessitates the ability to share information between sectors.

Civilian institutions also play a critical role in responding to chemical and biological incidents, which could include attacks. Preparedness within national, subnational, and local institutions—including, for example, hospitals, research laboratories, public health institutions, law enforcement agencies, manufacturing facilities, and entities managing critical infrastructure—are essential to ensuring readiness for potential chemical and biological attacks. Civilian institutions could be underprepared for the crisis operations that would be required in the event of a chemical or biological attack. Better coordination with military counterparts can bridge these gaps to ensure a whole-of-society response to potential attacks, which also has an important deterrent effect when highlighted via strategic communications campaigns.

The European Union can play a role in fostering greater access to critical resources, such as PPE and laboratory equipment, particularly in times of crisis where traditional processes are too slow. The European External Action Service, which is the EU's diplomatic service, has long partnered with NATO to ensure mutual understanding of threats and how to best prepare NATO allies and EU member states for possible CBRN attacks with information and tangible assets.³⁵ This relationship is vital to ensure stronger political-military coordination and should be expanded to account for greater CBRN-related cooperation.

Leverage NATO for coordination and capabilities

NATO's 2022 CBRN defense policy represented a shift from the focus on weapons of mass destruction (WMD) terrorism of the early 2000s to a state-based threat actor that more clo-

^{35. &}quot;EU-NATO Cooperation," European External Action Service, March 26, 2022, https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/eu-nato-cooperation-0_en.



Participants engage in a counter-CBRN defense training as part of a NATO-led exercise. 2025. NATO

sely aligns with the modern security environment.³⁶ NATO's International Staff is overseeing the implementation of this policy, which is critical to ensure guidance flows to capitals so national authorities can promote a consistent approach. A response aligned with NATO demonstrates unity, which in turn demonstrates alliance cohesion in the face of continued Russian threats. Several NATO allies, including the United States, UK, and Finland, have their own national policies, but for those

that do not, the NATO policy provides a roadmap for driving national prioritization of CBRN threats and response options for these threats aligned with NATO's priorities.³⁷

As NATO allies consider greater thresholds for defense spending, more investment is needed in CBRN defense equipment and capabilities. An essential aspect of capability development is deploying and positioning of attribution, detection, and surveillance systems. NATO is well poised to lead colla-

^{36.} For more, see NATO's CBRN defense policy: "NATO's Chemical, Biological, Radiological and Nuclear (CBRN) Defence Policy," NATO, last updated July 5, 2022, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/official_texts_197768.htm.

^{37.} For more, see "CBRNE Strategy 2024," Ministry of Defense of the Republic of Finland, December 11, 2024, https://julkaisutvaltioneuvosto.fi/handle/10024/165973; "2023 Strategy for Countering Weapons of Mass Destruction," US Department of Defense, September 2023, https://www.defense.gov/News/Releases/Article/3541619/dod-announces-release-of-2023-strategy-for-countering-weapons-of-mass-destructi/; "Allied Joint Doctrine for Countering Weapons of Mass Destruction in Military Operations (AJP-3.23)," Ministry of Defense of the United Kingdom, September 28, 2023, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/allied-joint-doctrine-for-countering-weapons-of-mass-destruction-in-military-operations-ajp-323; and "NATO's Chemical, Biological, Radiological and Nuclear (CBRN) Defence Policy," NATO.

borative efforts and ensure that states without adequate CBRN defenses learn from leaders in the field. NATO's High Visibility Projects (HVP) include three initiatives to improve cooperation around facilities, equipment, and detection.³⁸ CBRN defense projects have also been part of NATO's Smart Defence Initiative since 2014.³⁹

Consider the information domain

As noted in the deterrence section, proactive communication about military and civilian activities to safeguard the entire population from a CBRN attack serves an important deterrent function while bolstering societal resilience. Effective use of the information domain is equally critical to reassuring the public regarding CBRN responses.

States can disseminate proactive messages to get ahead of any false or misleading information that Russia may seek to inject within open societies. This includes emphasis on strategic communications, fact-checking initiatives, media literacy, and education campaigns for adults and children alike.

The health sector can offer lessons in disseminating information about emotionally sensitive topics in a way that recognizes the severity of a threat without stoking fear. For example, the UK Health Security Agency launched a public health campaign in 2025 to counter fears of taking antibiotics, which has become a top issue among UK residents. Similar approaches can be taken to inform the public about chloropicrin or other agents Russia has used. Such communications should focus on facts, and in the realm of CBRN weapons, be clear about the rare and limited nature of exposure to such threats so as not to provoke undue stress or fear.

Integrating deterrence and response

Through the course of our research, we identified two activities that served both deterrent and response functions. First, being clear and unafraid of imposing massive costs on Russia (including economic, geopolitical, or military actions) for its use of chemical weapons could deter it from continuing to deploy chemical weapons or prevent escalation. Accountability is also an important part of a response. Since 2014, Russia has acted with impunity in the absence of credible deterrent threats to its use of chemical weapons. Although many countries and international organizations have condemned Russia's use of chemical weapons and imposed sanctions on Moscow, these actions have not stopped Russia from using chemical agents to achieve geopolitical goals. The consensus during our workshops and interviews is that Russia has a long history of incorporating CBRN weapons into its strategy and planning, which makes them both a near-term threat and a long-term strategic threat. Bringing treaty violations forward has had limited impact on Russia's behavior, but increasing economic sanctions could reduce Russian access to funding, equipment, facilities, and technologies that could advance their chemical and biological weapons ambitions.

Second, the United States and its European allies and partners should clearly communicate potential consequences to deter future actions and inflict damage on the sectors on which Russia relies on for the development of its chemical and biological capabilities. The apparent threat of what a potential CBRN escalation would entail, including the diplomatic, informational, military, and economic implications, is essential for deterring Russia from turning to these threats, but following through on these actions also serves to punish Russia in response to its illicit activities.

Key findings and recommendations

Finding: Russia will likely continue using chemical weapons in Europe in a range of scenarios over the next five to ten years, particularly if doing so undermines Alliance unity and disrupts Ukraine's integration into the West. Based on its recent behavior, however, Russia appears less likely to use biological weapons. Furthermore, while Russia has threatened nuclear use, a large-scale nuclear attack appears unlikely.

Recommendation: Allies should continuously assess and evaluate Russia's strategic objectives. To better coordinate threat perceptions across the Alliance, the United States and its European allies and partners should consider opportunities to expand collaboration on joint threat assessments related to Russia's CBRN capabilities. As the Office of the Director of National Intelligence crafts the annual joint threat assessment report, insights from European allies and partners will be critical to assemble the most comprehensive picture of Russian CBRN threats; integrating perspectives from the Office of the NATO Assistant Secretary General for Intelligence and Security will be paramount in this effort.

Finding: To credibly deter Russia from nuclear escalation, the United States and its European allies and partners must ensure that Russia understands that using—or threatening to use—chemical and biological weapons would both fail to achieve its intended outcome and incur intolerable costs.

Recommendation: Instead of publicizing red lines, the United States should champion the achievement of internal consensus regarding acceptable thresholds of Russian activity based on treaty obligations, while externally preserving ambiguity as a component of deterrence. NATO, the Organisation for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons (OPCW), and

^{38. &}quot;Multinational Capability Cooperation," NATO, March 3, 2025, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics_163289.htm.

^{39. &}quot;Multinational Projects," NATO, June 2014, https://www.nato.int/nato_static_fl2014/assets/pdf/pdf_2014_06/20140602_140602_media-backgrounder_multinatio-nal-projects_en.pdf.

 [&]quot;UKHSA Launches Campaign to Tackle Misconceptions on Antibiotics," UK Health Security Agency, April 7, 2025, https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ukh-sa-launches-campaign-to-tackle-misconceptions-on-antibiotics.

the United Nations are valuable forums for such deliberations and can play roles in imposing costs on Russia for CBRN use. However, internal debates within national governments are required to achieve consensus, which can take time. International investigations, such as those previously led in Syria by the OPCW (an intergovernmental body), are also time-consuming, and Russia politicizes the results to undermine effectiveness. Therefore, this recommendation could take years of sustained effort to carry out.

Recommendation: Within the United States, the Department of Defense (DoD) should work with the relevant authorities within the Treasury and Commerce departments to **inflict the requisite economic pain on Russia through, for example, sanctions and export controls, to undermine its ability to sustain its biological and chemical weapons programs. Unified public messaging campaigns from the United States and Europe that condemn Russian CBRN weapons deployment would reinforce activities conducted behind the scenes.**

Recommendation: The United States and its European allies and partners should **identify methods for cooperation with nontraditional partners to dissuade Russia from leveraging CBRN threats** as part of their military doctrine. Through NATO or the UN, the United States should explore opportunities to engage China and India to dissuade Moscow from pursuing further CBRN weapons development and use.

Finding: Since the end of the Cold War, CBRN defense has been deprioritized among NATO allies, including the United States. Amid calls for increased defense spending, CBRN defense capability development is an area primed for greater investment.

Recommendation: As concerns about potential deployment of Russian CBRN weapons grow, the US DoD should emphasize and prioritize efforts to expand counter-CBRN capabilities. Specific needs include sufficient systems to detect, surveil, and attribute CBRN threats. The United States could leverage the OPCW (and vice versa) for its experience in investigations. As the United States and its European allies and partners update guidelines for defense spending, CBRN defense warrants renewed attention and investment. The Office of the Secretary of Defense (OSD) should advocate for European counterparts to place greater emphasis on CBRN defense. The DoD and the relevant subagencies should emphasize these systems when outlining US defense policy and national security strategies as they pertain to CBRN threats. Such systems will aid in deterring Russian CBRN threats while expanding readiness, preparedness, and resilience within the United States and across the transatlantic community. Ministries of defense and crisis response agencies should set baselines for CBRN defense capabilities and stockpile accordingly, including PPE, gas masks, antibiotics, and laboratory equipment.

Recommendation: DTRA and the broader US defense community should **expand training on CBRN threats by incorporating elements of chemical, biological, and nuclear warfare**

scenarios in tabletop exercises and war-games. Inclusion of these scenarios can complement crisis situations posited in Europe to identify deterrence strategies and response options. CBRN considerations are often perceived to be too niche and left to specialist communities to design strategy and crisis responses. However, it is critical for decision-makers within the entire chain of command to possess a broad awareness of CBRN threats and simulate planning. The Joint Staff should ensure that service-level training incorporates these considerations into doctrine and training. Then, DTRA's liaison officers could support training at US military commands and within multilateral institutions, such as NATO.

Recommendation: The United States and its NATO allies should incorporate the NATO SOF Command more directly into operational planning, particularly when thinking through the requisite deterrence and response implications of Russia deploying a CBRN weapon. NATO's Supreme Headquarters Allied Powers Europe (SHAPE) could help drive this coordination with support from the United States. Given the hybrid nature of many CBRN threats from Russia, within SHAPE and NATO Allied Command Operations (ACO), the United States and its NATO allies could consider a greater role for responding to hybrid threats alongside preexisting military structures. The US should expand CBRN defense cooperation, particularly on training, exercising, and information sharing. Elsewhere in Europe, allies recognized the leading role the United States plays (as well as the UK) in sharing intelligence with NATO; for allies with limited intelligence capabilities of their own, US information might be the only source of CBRN-related intelligence. Some allies expressed uncertainty over the prioritization of CBRN-related cooperation as a new administration begins its work in Washington, but at the individual level, cooperation remains close. NATO leaders should leverage productive working relationships to ensure sustained, coordinated prioritization for CBRN defense across all echelons of NATO planning.

Recommendation: As the need for additional CBRN defense capabilities and equipment grows, so too does the need to strengthen the private-sector capacity to supply the requisite functionalities. The US government should expand relationships with the defense industry and bolster production capacity to sustain supply chains and replenish depleted stockpiles of PPE. The DoD can also leverage lessons learned for production capacity and procurement protocols from the COVID-19 pandemic, when the Pentagon supported the production of PPE through the Defense Production Act to increase production of critical supplies and equipment. The DoD's Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition and Sustainment and the Defense Logistics Agency can both play an important role in facilitating these relationships while removing unnecessary barriers to procurement processes within the DoD. Similar efforts should be undertaken with European counterparts of these agencies and at NATO, though the implementation of this recommendation could require years of investment.

Finding: The United States should leverage NATO to facilitate greater coordination between civilian and military entities to enhance whole-of-society resilience to CBRN threats.

Recommendation: Demonstrating close cooperation between civilian and military entities can have a deterrent effect if communicated properly, while also ensuring military entities are aware of the resources that reside in civilian institutions. Key areas for investment include interoperability of CBRN defense equipment; standards and procedures for treating exposure to chemical or biological agents; availability of civilian infrastructure for military use; and protocols for military members seeking care in civilian hospitals. NATO is well poised to encourage cooperation between military forces and critical civilian institutions that are often on the front lines of such responses, including public health agencies, local hospitals, and law enforcement. European nations can leverage the examples of their peers to their advantage. In the United States, the DoD is well positioned to support interagency coordination among European allies and partners with respect to emergency preparedness mechanisms, capability development, and training. OSD should consider embedding highly skilled personnel within US military commands, diplomatic missions, and other frameworks to facilitate the exchange of information and expertise.

Recommendation: A whole-of-society approach to resilience—to include health institutions, law enforcement, critical infrastructure, business community, and other sectors—can help strengthen attribution systems for identifying and attributing chemical and biological attacks. The United States should coordinate with its European allies and partners to encourage greater resilience and preparedness within civilian institutions and foster information sharing across national borders.

Finding: Information and intelligence sharing is critical to achieving a common threat perception among NATO allies and partners. Expanded information sharing and effective strategic communications can deter Russian use of chemical or biological weapons and ensure a coordinated response if deterrence fails.

Recommendation: Preemptive and frequent intelligence sharing, in classified and open-source settings, is critical to deterring Russia from using CBRN weapons; this practice presents a unified approach among the United States and its European allies and partners. All allies should aim to more regularly share relevant information. The US national security apparatus should conduct a complete review of potential barriers to information and intelligence sharing to identify areas for streamlined sharing with NATO allies. The Defense Intelligence Agency could lead such an initiative on behalf of the DoD, with a focus on greater use of open-source intelligence to draw further public attention to Russia's CBRN capabilities, facilities, and development. The United States should encourage similar reviews across NATO member states to improve Alliance-wide access to intelligence and information and ensure that this subject is a standing agenda item for the relevant NATO committees, including the Defense Policy and Planning Committee and the Civilian Intelligence Committee.

Recommendation: With the release of NATO's 2022 CBRN Defense Policy, **more consistent and comprehensive messaging is needed within the capitals of NATO allies**, particularly around the policy planning process and the integration of civilian entities within a coordinated military response in the event of a CBRN-related contingency. The US Mission to NATO can champion efforts to expand knowledge and understanding of Russian CBRN threats within NATO while sharing lessons learned from European allies and partners throughout the US government.

Finding: The United States and its European allies and partners should take steps to raise the public IQ related to CBRN threats, particularly as it pertains to chemical and biological threats.

Recommendation: The US Defense, State, and Homeland Security departments have produced public messaging campaigns related to Russian CBRN threats and methods to improve media literacy. These efforts should expand to include greater emphasis on debunking false and misleading claims related to CBRN threats. Additionally, the US government should incorporate European allies and partners in messaging efforts to counter Russian malign influence operations around CBRN threats.

Recommendation: The United States should work with European allies to identify best practices in crafting public awareness-raising campaigns for how to respond to suspected CBRN attacks. Public messaging should focus on practical steps individuals can take in an emergency, without prompting undue alarm among the wider population.

Recommendation: US and European governments should explore opportunities to partner with civil society organizations to craft prebunking, media literacy, and fact-checking initiatives that can successfully communicate proactive messaging to broader publics in the Euro-Atlantic area, particularly given the scientific and technical nature of CBRN threats. Proactive messages about resistance to Russian narratives should be disseminated through a combination of means, including traditional media, official government communications, and social media. The United States could also explore joint research initiatives with European institutions. EU member states can leverage the European Defense Fund, which provides research into common defense and security priorities, including in CBRN-related issues. Partnerships between universities, scientific foundations, and think tanks can facilitate greater knowledge and information sharing related to CBRN threats.

Finding: The governance of emerging and applied technologies is difficult within the bounds of existing treaty regimes. Sanctions and export controls can complement treaty organizations to monitor and contain potential CBRN threats from such technologies, including dual-use systems and components.

Recommendation: Technologies such as synthetic biology and additive manufacturing continue to evolve, and their applications will remain difficult to foresee. The international community must remain vigilant to how technologies can be exploited. To that end, the United States must continue and expand its restrictions for known suppliers of potential dual-use technologies to Russia. The DoD should coordinate with the Department of Commerce to expand the use of export controls to address instances where Russia is able to obtain capabilities and equipment, such as pharmaceutical components, biotechnologies, and chemical precursors. Critical to the success of these controls, however, is including likeminded European allies and partners into conversations about technologies of concern. The Department of Defense should work with the Department of Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control to strengthen and expand the list of sanctioned entities that aid and abet Russia's biological and chemical weapons development programs.

Conclusion

This project demonstrates that Russian chemical and biological threats are a concern now and will continue to pose challenges to European security in the next five to ten years. To enable European allies and partners to counter these threats, the United States can leverage its strong security and defense relationships with European allies and partners to improve capabilities and raise the profile of chemical and biological weapons issues within governments and among populations. The existing chemical and biological defense infrastructure in the United States, NATO, and in some European countries provides lessons for the broader Euro-Atlantic community. With greater investment comes greater confidence that deterring Russia can work, but if deterrence fails, attention now can ensure that the United States and Europe are prepared to effectively respond.

Appendix A. Acronym list

Throughout the report, we use the following acronyms as part of our analysis.

Acronym	Terminology
ACO	Allied Command Operations
BWC	Biological Weapons Convention
CBRN	Chemical, biological, radiological, and nuclear
CWC	Chemical Weapons Convention
DoD	Department of Defense
DTRA	Defense Threat Reduction Agency
EU	European Union
HVP	High Visibility Project
OSD	Office of the Secretary of Defense
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
SHAPE	Supreme Headquarters Allied Powers Europe
SOF	Special Operations Forces
UN	United Nations
WMD	Weapons of mass destruction

Appendix B. Workshop participants

The Atlantic Council convened thirty-seven participants for two scenario-based discussions. The first discussion, held on January 15, 2025, was held entirely virtually and comprised of individuals from think tanks, civil society, and the expert community. The second workshop was held on January 28, 2025 and featured military and government officials from the United States, Europe, and NATO. The affiliations of the individuals who participated are provided in the table below.

Affiliation
American University
Atlantic Council (4)
Center for European Policy Analysis (2)
Center for Strategic and International Studies
Embassy of Bulgaria to the United States
Embassy of Estonia to the United States
Embassy of Finland to the United States
Embassy of Lithuania to the United States
Embassy of the Netherlands to the United States
Embassy of Romania to the United States (2)
Embassy of the United Kingdom to the United States (2)
Finnish Institute for International Affairs
Foundation for Security Research
Institute for Security and International Studies, Sofia
Institute of International Relations, Prague
Internal Security Service of Estonia
International CBRNE Institute
International Institute for Strategic Studies
Ministry of National Defense of Lithuania
Ministry of National Defense of Poland
NATO International Staff (2)
Nuclear Threat Initiative
RAND Corporation
Rescue Board of Estonia
Royal United Services Institute
Task Force Latvia
US Department of Defense (4)

Appendix C. Exercise methodology

The exercises were designed to allow participants to think through scenarios in which Russia may turn to chemical and biological weapons to target the United States and its allies to achieve its geopolitical goals.

The discussions focused on scenarios projected over the next five to ten years and explored opportunities for the United States and Europe to deter and respond to potential Russian chemical and biological escalation. Participants engaged in scenario-guided exercises, representing their individual opinions based on personal and professional experiences rather than the official stances of their organizations or governments, without attribution. The exercises were held at the unclassified level.

Both exercises included facilitated discussion to examine key aspects of the posited scenario from various perspectives. Participants were evenly divided into two groups; one group discussed the chemical weapon scenario and the other the biological weapon scenario. A facilitator was present in each breakout group and in the main meeting room to help advance dialogue using a series of structured and unstructured questions.

During the exercise, participants discussed responses to various questions. While each scenario presented a unique set of questions in response to the scenario framework, overall, the questions revolved around the following fundamental areas:

- In what scenarios might Russia use its arsenal of chemical and biological capabilities to achieve its geopolitical goals in the five-to-ten-year time frame?
- How might the United States and its European allies enhance their overall defense and deterrence posture to reduce the risk of potential escalation?
- How can the United States work with its European partners and allies to sustain responses to the potential deployment of limited-use chemical and biological weapons?

Scenario-based workshop: background story

Following significant pressure from NATO allies, in late 2025, Ukraine and Russia reached a ceasefire agreement. The agreement allowed Russia to maintain control of most of the Ukrainian territory it had seized since 2014, including Crimea, and parts of the Donetsk, Kharkiv, Kherson, Luhansk, Mykolayiv, and Zaporizhzhya oblasts. While Ukraine continued to claim these territories as part of its sovereign territory, the agreement ushered in a stable yet fragile peace. Ukraine also agreed to halt its formal accession to NATO for at least ten years and agreed to cease moves to further integrate into Western institutions in exchange for security guarantees; namely, that Russia would not violate the newly established border and would respect the territorial integrity and sovereignty of the Ukrainian people. There was a partial lifting of sanctions on Russia, but full sanctions on its oil and gas industry

remained in place, and it remained unable to access Western financial institutions.

Throughout 2026, Russia maintained substantial military investment comparable to pre-ceasefire levels. This included rebuilding its military manpower, continuing mobilization efforts, and investing in equipment and armaments. Allied intelligence suggested that Russia also maintained investments in chemical and biological weapons research, development, and production facilities.

In the summer of 2027, NATO leaders, decrying Russia's continued militarization and ongoing threats to violate the ceasefire agreement on the pretext of protecting "ethnic Russians being persecuted by the Kyiv regime," agreed that, as part of security guarantees for Ukraine, the alliance would establish a Ukraine Force (UFOR), a NATO-led international peacekeeping force and the military of Ukraine, similar to the Kosovo Force. UFOR would be mostly comprised of French, British, and Polish troops with small numbers of troops from a dozen other NATO members. The establishment of UFOR would begin with growing the size of the NATO representative office in Kyiv fivefold (including stationing senior allied military officers), which would coordinate UFOR activities. No date was set at that time for when UFOR troops would be deployed to Ukraine.

Russia called the establishment of UFOR "a blatant violation of the terms of the ceasefire agreement" and announced that the deployment of NATO military personnel to Ukraine would invalidate the ceasefire agreement, citing Ukraine's agreement to end its pursuit of NATO accession. In response, Russia stepped up the tempo and range of hybrid attacks against Ukraine, NATO allies, and EU institutions (Ukrainian EU accession talks remained ongoing), including arson and cyberattacks. Russia also expanded its disinformation campaigns, including alleging Ukrainian persecution of ethnic Russians near the ceasefire border and questioning election integrity in allied countries. UFOR announced that it would accelerate its deployment to be fully operational by mid-2029.

Throughout 2029, Russia continued to accelerate its hybrid activities. Western intelligence reported the first isolated skirmishes taking place on the Ukrainian-controlled side of the new border. Russia alleged that the Ukrainian government and UFOR had targeted ethnic Russians civilians who responded in self-defense. Intelligence suggested that the unrest was actually the work of nonuniformed Russian agents undertaking covert operations at Moscow's direction, with the aim of provoking local tensions and hostility toward UFOR. The charismatic governor of a Ukrainian border province was assassinated—shot while attending an Orthodox Christmas celebration in January 2030. UFOR increased its presence in Ukraine, including moving more personnel from Lviv and Kyiv further east.

Team A: Chemical attack in 2030

In March 2030, in a small town where UFOR personnel are garrisoned near the border, reports surfaced of a gas release, sickening residents and soldiers. Several civilians and UFOR personnel were hospitalized, experiencing symptoms includ-

ing shortness of breath, coughing, and choking. There are eight fatalities, including two UFOR personnel from the United States and Poland. Following this attack, Russian media began to share pictures and videos with the narrative that UFOR and NATO were responsible for this attack, which they claimed intended to kill ethnic Russians and sow discord among the local population. In reality, it was a Russian false-flag operation that aimed to incite hostility against NATO among the local Russian population.

International investigations and allied intelligence revealed that the chemical used in the attack was chloropicrin, the same substance that Russia employed against Ukrainian forces in violation of the CWC during the full-scale invasion launched in 2022.⁴¹

Chloropicrin is an agent that is commercially used as a soil insecticide and is used extensively as a fumigant for grains.⁴² Chloropicrin can also be used as a riot control agent and is banned for use as a weapon under the CWC.

Team B: Biological attack in 2030

US intelligence reports in 2028 found that Russian operatives continued the research, development, and production of biological weapons. Following the enhanced deployment of UFOR personnel, Russia warned that the UFOR presence close to the border agreed in the ceasefire would bring "severe consequences for those responsible."

In March 2030, a series of reports emerged that defense officials in France, Poland, and the United Kingdom—all major UFOR contributors—and vocal critics of Russia in the Baltic states, received suspicious packages. Members of the European Parliament and US Congress received similar packages. These packages resulted in the poisoning of nineteen individuals, leading to the deaths of four people: a UK parliamentary clerk, a senior official of the French Ministry of Defense, a Belgian civilian, and an American civilian. Forensic analysis of the packages revealed the presence of anthrax spores, which caused the infections. Intelligence pinpointed the culprits as a network of individuals linked to the Russian state security forces. Despite the evidence, an official spokesperson from the Kremlin denied Russian involvement in the attack. Anthrax is derived from a naturally occurring bacteria that is spread through air to humans or animals but is not contagious from person to person.⁴³ Anthrax can be developed in a laboratory setting and has previously been used as a biological weapon.⁴⁴

 [&]quot;Russia Spreads Disinformation to Cover Up Its Use of Chemical Weapons in Ukraine," US Embassy and Consulate in Poland, June 7, 2024, https://2021-2025.state.gov/imposing-new-measures-on-russia-for-its-full-scale-war-and-use-of-chemical-weapons-against-ukraine-2/.

^{42. &}quot;Chloropicrin," US Army Chemical Materials Activity, June 7, 2024, https://www.cma.army.mil/wp-content/uploads/2024_06_07_RCMD_FS_Chloropicrin.pdf.

^{43. &}quot;About Anthrax," US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), April 2, 2025, https://www.cdc.gov/anthrax/about/index.html.

^{44. &}quot;Bioterrorism and Anthrax: The Threat," US CDC, April 3, 2025, https://www.cdc.gov/anthrax/bioterrorism/index.html

Appendix D. Interview participants

We interviewed sixteen individuals for this report. The interviews were conducted virtually on a not-for-attribution basis. We selected interviewees based on their familiarity with concepts relevant to the research questions, including on Russian CBRN threats; US, European, and NATO CBRN defense capabilities; deterrence strategies; civil preparedness and emergency responses; and other relevant topics. The research team sought to obtain a variety of perspectives throughout the interview process, including from a wide range of backgrounds and nationalities.

The organizations whose personnel were interviewed are listed in the table below.

Affiliation of interview participants
Department of Health and Social Care of the United King-
dom
International Institute for Strategic Studies
Ministry of the Armed Forces of France
Ministry of Defense of Bulgaria
Ministry of Defense of the Czech Republic
Ministry of Defense of Finland
Ministry of Defense of the United Kingdom (2)
Ministry of Interior of Estonia
Ministry of National Defense of Poland
NATO Force Integration Unit
NATO International Staff (2)
US Mission to NATO (2)

US Department of Defense

Appendix E. Biographies and acknowledgments

Principal investigator biography



Philippe "Phil" Dickinson is the deputy director with the Transatlantic Security Initiative at the Atlantic Council's Scowcroft Center for Strategy and Security. In this capacity, he supports TSI's work related to NATO and strengthening the transatlantic alliance more broadly.

Prior to joining the Atlantic Council, Dickinson was a career diplomat with the United Kingdom's Foreign, Commonwealth, and

Development Office. Most recently, he served on the political team at the British embassy in Washington, providing analysis of US politics and policy issues, working to promote the UK-US relationship, and building relationships with bipartisan leaders across the United States.

Dickinson has previously served in postings at the UK High Commission Colombo, where he worked to advance human rights and democracy in Sri Lanka and the Maldives and covered South Asian regional security; and at the UK Permanent Mission to the United Nations in New York, focused on the conflict in Syria. In London, Dickinson has worked on a diverse range of issues, including counterterrorism in the Middle East and consular strategy for British nationals in prisons around the world. He also has worked in the UK Ministry of Defence in London, on programs to support the UK Armed Forces community; and he has managed projects at the UK Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport in partnership with some of the United Kingdom's biggest museums.

He began his career in East Asia, first as an English teacher in Okinawa, Japan, and then in Beijing, where he worked as an interpreter and policy analyst for the European Union Delegation to China, and as an energy policy officer for the British embassy in Beijing. Dickinson graduated from Oxford University with a BA in Chinese studies and speaks five languages.

Author biographies



Ryan Arick is a nonresident fellow with the Transatlantic Security Initiative at the Atlantic Council's Scowcroft Center for Strategy and Security. Previously, Arick served as the associate director of the initiative, where he led efforts to strengthen NATO to address security threats from around the world.

Previously, Arick was an assistant program officer with the Interna-

tional Forum for Democratic Studies at the National Endowment for Democracy. Prior to joining the International Forum for Democratic Studies, he worked with the National Democratic Institute's Central and Eastern Europe division.

His research interests include transatlantic security and NATO defense policy; arms control, disarmament, and nonproliferation; democratic resilience from foreign malign influence; and state fragility and conflict prevention.

Arick is a master of international affairs candidate at Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs where his research focuses on international security, global politics, and diplomacy. He graduated magna cum laude with a bachelor of science in public affairs from Indiana University Bloomington.



Natasha Lander Finch is a senior fellow with the Atlantic Council's Scowcroft Center for Strategy and Security, where she leads international research studies for the Transatlantic Security Initiative. She also is an adjunct senior fellow in the defense program at the Center for a New American Security.

Lander Finch spent a decade as a senior policy analyst at the RAND

Corporation, where she led multidisciplinary teams in conducting research on a broad range of topics, including chemical, biological, and nuclear policy; counterterrorism; European security; and military and civilian workforce policy. She also has served as an adviser within the Office of the Undersecretary of Defense for Policy. In this capacity, she aided the development of guidance influencing diplomatic, operational, and technical aspects of the international mission to remove and destroy Syria's declared chemical weapons. During her assignment at the Pentagon, she also led US defense cooperation on countering weapons of mass destruction proliferation at NATO. For her efforts, she was twice awarded the Office of the Secretary of Defense Medal for Exceptional Public Service.

Prior to joining RAND, Lander Finch was a senior analyst and deputy program manager at BAE Systems, where she authored numerous reports for US government policymakers while managing teams of analysts.

Lander Finch holds a master of science degree in psychology and the neuroscience of mental health with distinction from King's College London, a master of public policy degree from George Mason University, and a bachelor's degree in journalism with a dual major in political science from Bowling Green State University. Her analysis has been published in the Atlantic Council's New Atlanticist blog, the Cipher Brief, the National Interest, Real Clear Defense, and US News & World Report.

Acknowledgments

The research team thanks the US Department of Defense for sponsoring this work and for the guidance and support provided throughout the course of the project. Special thanks go to the wide range of experts and stakeholders, inside and outside of the US and European governments, who took part in the scenario-building exercises, contributed their perspectives during the interview process, spoke during roundtable discussions, and participated in other contexts to enrich the analysis.

We would also like to acknowledge Hans Binnendijk and John Watts for their support in conceptualizing the methodology and structure of the scenario workshop exercises. Hans and Katarzyna Zysk provided useful peer reviews to improve the quality of the report. In addition, we would like to thank Torrey Taussig and Matthew Kroenig, who offered strategic direction, peer review, and key perspectives throughout the project. Within the Atlantic Council's Transatlantic Security Initiative team, we recognize our current and recent colleagues Inga Samoškaitė, Zak Schneider, Kristen Taylor, Kimberly Talley, and Luka Ignac for their project management and research support. We would also like to thank the Atlantic Council's Gretchen Ehle, Nicholas O'Connell, and Caroline Simpson, whose support for this project was invaluable.

The views expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the official policy or position of the US Department of Defense or the United States government.



Board of Directors

CHAIRMAN

*John F.W. Rogers

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN EMERITUS

*James L. Jones

PRESIDENT AND CEO

*Frederick Kempe

EXECUTIVE VICE CHAIRS

*Adrienne Arsht *Stephen J. Hadley

VICE CHAIRS

*Robert J. Abernethy
*Alexander V. Mirtchev

TREASURER

*George Lund

DIRECTORS

Stephen Achilles Elliot Ackerman *Gina F. Adams Timothy D. Adams *Michael Andersson Ilker Baburoglu Alain Bejjani Colleen Bell Peter J. Beshar *Karan Bhatia Stephen Biegun Linden P. Blue Brad Bondi John Bonsell Philip M. Breedlove David L. Caplan Samantha A. Carl-Yoder *Teresa Carlson *James E. Cartwright John E. Chapoton Ahmed Charai Melanie Chen Michael Chertoff George Chopivsky Wesley K. Clark Kellvanne Conway *Helima Croft Ankit N. Desai *Lawrence Di Rita Dante A. Disparte *Paula J. Dobriansky Joseph F. Dunford, Jr. Joseph Durso Richard Edelman Oren Eisner Stuart E. Eizenstat

Mark T. Esper

Christopher W.K. Fetzer *Michael Fisch Alan H. Fleischmann Jendayi E. Frazer *Meg Gentle Thomas H. Glocer John B. Goodman Sherri W. Goodman Marcel Grisnigt Iarosław Grzesiak Murathan Günal Michael V. Hayden Robin Hayes Tim Holt *Karl V. Hopkins Kay Bailey Hutchison Ian Ihnatowycz Keoki Jackson Deborah Lee James *Joia M. Johnson *Safi Kalo Karen Karniol-Tambour *Andre Kelleners John E. Klein Ratko Knežević C. Jeffrey Knittel Joseph Konzelmann Keith J. Krach Franklin D. Kramer Laura Lane Almar Latour Yann Le Pallec Diane Leopold Andrew J.P. Levy Jan M. Lodal Douglas Lute Jane Holl Lute William J. Lynn Mark Machin Marco Margheri Michael Margolis Chris Marlin William Marron Roger R. Martella Jr. Judith A. Miller Dariusz Mioduski *Richard Morningstar Georgette Mosbacher Majida Mourad Mary Claire Murphy Scott Nathan Julia Nesheiwat Edward J. Newberry

Franco Nuschese Robert O'Brien

*Ahmet M. Ören

*Kostas Pantazopoulos

Ana I. Palacio

David H. Petraeus Elizabeth Frost Pierson *Lisa Pollina Daniel B. Poneman Robert Portman *Dina H. Powell McCormick Michael Punke Ashraf Qazi Laura J. Richardson Thomas J. Ridge Gary Rieschel Charles O. Rossotti Harry Sachinis C. Michael Scaparrotti Ivan A. Schlager Rajiv Shah Wendy R. Sherman Gregg Sherrill Jeff Shockey Kris Singh Varun Sivaram Walter Slocombe Christopher Smith Clifford M. Sobel Michael S. Steele Richard J.A. Steele Mary Streett Nader Tavakoli *Gil Tenzer *Frances F. Townsend Melanne Verveer Tvson Voelkel Kemba Walden Michael F. Walsh *Peter Weinberg Ronald Weiser *Al Williams Ben Wilson Maciej Witucki Neal S. Wolin Tod D. Wolters *Jenny Wood Alan Yang **Guang Yang** Mary C. Yates Dov S. Zakheim

HONORARY DIRECTORS

James A. Baker, III Robert M. Gates James N. Mattis Michael G. Mullen Leon E. Panetta William J. Perry Condoleezza Rice Horst Teltschik

The Atlantic Council is a nonpartisan organization that promotes constructive US leadership and engagement in international affairs based on the central role of the Atlantic community in meeting today's global challenges.

© 2025 The Atlantic Council of the United States. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Atlantic Council, except in the case of brief quotations in news articles, critical articles, or reviews. Please direct inquiries to:

Atlantic Council 1400 L Street NW, 11th Floor Washington, DC 20005

(202) 463-7226

www.AtlanticCouncil.org